IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 80,072

JIMMIE LEE CONEY,

Appellant,

-VS-

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT OF FLORIDA IN AND FOR DADE COUNTY

BENNETT H. BRUMMER Public Defender Eleventh Judicial Circuit of Florida 1351 N.W. 12th Street Miami, Florida 33125 (305) 545-3003

HOWARD K. BLUMBERG Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 264385

Counsel for Appellant

SID J. WHITE APR 5 1993 CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By_____Chief Deputy Clerk

INTRODUCTION

This is a direct appeal from judgments of conviction and sentences, including a sentence of death, entered following a jury trial. In this brief, the symbol "R" will be used to designate the record on appeal, and the symbol "A" will be used to designate the appendix attached to this brief. All emphasis is supplied unless the contrary is indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On April 25, 1990, an indictment was filed charging Jimmie Lee Coney with first degree murder and arson (R. 1-2A). The case was scheduled for arraignment before former Circuit Court Judge Roy T. Gelber on May 8, 1990 (R. 2926). At that hearing, the assistant public defender assigned to represent Mr. Coney certified that a conflict of interest existed which precluded further representation of Mr. Coney by the Public Defender's Office (R. 2926). Judge Gelber stated, "I will get an attorney," and he continued the case to the following day (R. 2926). At a hearing on the following day, attorney Manuel Casabielle accepted Judge Gelber's appointment to represent Mr. Coney (R. 2930).

On January 31, 1992, a lengthy pretrial conference was conducted before the Honorable Fredricka G. Smith, Circuit Court Judge, to whom the case had just been assigned for trial (R. 387-424). Mr. Coney was not present at this pretrial conference, as his counsel purported to waive his right to be present (R. 389).¹

¹The facts relating to this pretrial conference are set forth in detail in Point IIIA of this brief, in which the argument is presented that Jimmie Coney's involuntary absence from the pretrial

Approximately two weeks after the pretrial conference, on February 11, 1992, trial proceedings commenced with a hearing on a defense motion to exclude the dying declarations of the victim, Patrick Southworth (R. 60, 425). At the outset of this hearing, Judge Smith introduced herself to Mr. Coney and explained that she had recently been assigned to preside over his trial (R. 431-32). Judge Smith did not mention anything about the pre-trial conference over which she had previously presided.

The evidence introduced at the pretrial hearing concerning the admissibility of Patrick Southworth's out-of-court statements focused on the time period beginning with the discovery of Southworth at the scene of the fire at approximately 5:00 A.M. on April 6, 1990, and ending when Southworth lost consciousness at Jackson Memorial Hospital (JMH) approximately two hours later (R. 433-601, 844-949). At the conclusion of the hearing, the court found that Southworth was conscious of his immediate and impending death during that period of time (R. 957-61). Based on this ruling the judge admitted, in its entirety, every out-of-court statement made by Patrick Southworth from the time he was found at the scene of the fire until the time he lost consciousness at JMH (R. 957-58).² The defense objection to the admission of this evidence was renewed during the trial (R. 1741).

Jury selection commenced with the questioning of prospective

conference requires reversal.

²The evidence adduced at the pretrial hearing concerning Southworth's out-of-court statements is set forth in detail in Point II of this brief, in which the argument is presented that the trial court erred in allowing the state to introduce Southworth's statements concerning his opinion as to Coney's motive.

jurors concerning their ability to recommend the death penalty (R. 642-721). At the conclusion of this questioning, a conference was held outside the presence of Mr. Coney (R. 721-728). During this conference, the first round of challenges for cause were exercised (R. 722-727).³

During the general questioning of the prospective jurors concerning their backgrounds, juror Constance Schopperle revealed that her husband was an FBI agent involved in Operation Court Broom (R. 791, 1049). After defense counsel completed his questioning of the prospective jurors, another conference was held outside the presence of Mr. Coney (R. 1081-1085). At this conference, defense counsel disclosed to the court that his name had appeared in the newspapers in association with the Operation Court Broom investigation, and he requested the opportunity to question Ms. Schopperle further outside the presence of the other jurors (R. 1081-84; A. 1-3).⁴

During defense counsel's general questioning of the prospective jurors, he began to question the jurors about their understanding of the concept of reasonable doubt (R. 1061-1062). After defense counsel had only questioned a handful of jurors on this subject, the court <u>sua sponte</u> interrupted and imposed a ban on any further questioning of the jurors concerning reasonable

³The facts relating to this conference are set forth in detail in Point IIIB of this brief, in which the argument is presented that Jimmie Coney's involuntary absence from the conference requires reversal.

⁴The facts relating to this conference are set forth in detail in Point IIIB of this brief, in which the argument is presented that Jimmie Coney's involuntary absence from the conference requires reversal.

doubt (R. 1062).

Toward the end of the trial, defense counsel presented the judge with a proposed jury instruction concerning the weighing of evidence of dying declarations (R. 216-17, 2494-95). The judge refused to give this instruction (R. 2496-98).

The jury retired to begin its deliberations at 10:41 A.M. (R. 2637). At 3:42 P.M., the jury returned its verdict finding Jimmie Coney guilty as charged of first degree murder and first degree arson (R. 241-242, 2642-43). The court entered adjudications of guilt based on the jury verdicts (R. 244-45, 2652-53).

THE GUILT PHASE FACTS

On April 6, 1990, shortly before 5:00 A.M., someone set fire to Patrick Southworth as he lay in his lower bunk in Cell 120 in the B-dorm wing of Dade Correctional Institution (DCI). Southworth died from the burns he suffered in that fire approximately 24 hours later. To establish that Jimmie Coney was responsible for Southworth's death, the state relied primarily on statements made by Southworth in the two hour period after the fire, and on the testimony of three inmates at DCI who implicated Coney in setting that fire. The defense presented a number of witnesses to establish that Jimmie Coney could not have set the fire, and that Southworth's roommate, Byrel Santerfeit, had in fact set the fire.

On April 6, 1990, Corrections Officer Jose Sanchez was the sole officer assigned to supervise approximately one hundred inmates housed in the B-dormitory wing of DCI between midnight and

8:00 A.M. (R. 1527-28). At 4:00 A.M., Officer Sanchez woke up inmates Jimmie Coney and Archie McKnight so that they could pack up their personal property in preparation for a transfer out of DCI (R. 1531-33). After waking up the two inmates, Officer Sanchez returned to the officers' station (R. 1535). A short time later, Coney went to the station and asked Officer Sanchez for a plastic bag to use to pack up his property (R. 1535-36). Officer Sanchez told Coney that he did not have any plastic bags (R. 1536). Officer Sanchez then watched as Coney tried to use a telephone that was not working (R. 1536-37). At about the same time, Officer Sanchez observed Coney's roommate, Hasan Jones, walking down the hallway to get a drink of water (R. 1537). Officer Sanchez told Jones to return to his cell, and then watched as Coney and Jones returned to the cell they shared (R. 1537-39).

At approximately 4:20 A.M., Officer Sanchez conducted a count of the inmates (R. 1539). During this count, Officer Sanchez opened the door to Cell 112 where Coney and Jones lived (R. 1539). He looked inside the cell and saw Coney and Jones (R. 1539-40). He did not smell any flammable liquids inside the cell (R. 1572). During the multiple encounters between Officer Sanchez and Coney that morning, the officer never smelled any flammable liquids on Coney's person (R. 1572-74, 1589).

As Officer Sanchez approached Cell 120, which was occupied by Patrick Southworth and Byrel Santerfeit, Officer Sanchez observed Coney enter the restroom (R. 1541-43). Officer Sanchez walked about four feet into Cell 120 and saw that Southworth was lying in the bottom bunk with the covers pulled over his body (R. 1567-69).

After Officer Sanchez came out of Cell 120 and started walking down the hallway, he saw Coney come out of the restroom and return to his cell (R. 1543-44).

After Officer Sanchez had finished the inmate count and returned to the officers' station, Coney and McKnight approached him and Coney again asked for a plastic bag (R. 1544-46). Officer Sanchez told Coney not to worry and Coney returned to his cell (R. 1546). Officer Sanchez then began an inventory of McKnight's property, assisted by Corrections Officer Steven Barney who had arrived at approximately 4:30 A.M., around the time that McKnight entered the officers' station (R. 1546-47, 1666). Officer Sanchez sat at a desk in the officers' station and did paperwork while Officer Barney sorted through McKnight's property (R. 1547-48). Directly in front of the desk where Officer Sanchez sat were two windows looking out onto B-dormitory (R. 1548-49).

During the time that the officers were conducting the inventory of McKnight's property, Coney returned to the officers' station with his property packed in plastic bags (R. 1549). The officers advised Coney to wait outside the station, and Coney placed the plastic bags on the ground outside the station (R. 1550). Sanchez testified at trial that after Coney placed the bags outside the station, he (Sanchez) returned to the inventory of McKnight's property and did not pay any attention to Coney (R. 1550-51). Officer Barney testified that Coney turned in the direction of B-dorm after leaving the station (R. 1669-70).

As Officer Sanchez continued with the inventory of McKnight's property, Officer Tony Pesante entered the station at 4:57 A.M. to

check the results of the inmate count (R. 1551-52, 1618). Coney had walked out of the officers' station with his property one or two minutes before Officer Pesante arrived (R. 1669-70). Officer Pesante testified at trial that he did not see any inmate outside the officers' station when he entered that station at 4:57 A.M. (R. 1618-19). Officer Sanchez testified at trial that he could not remember where Coney was located when Officer Pesante entered the officers' station (R. 1576-77). In his incident report prepared on April 6, 1990, Officer Sanchez wrote, "Jimmie Coney was standing in front of the officers' station when Officer Pesante walked in" (R. 1577-78). Over defense objection, the state was permitted to elicit testimony at trial from Officer Sanchez concerning statements he gave on April 6 and April 10 in which he told investigating officers that he did not know where Coney was when Officer Pesante entered the station because he was busy with the inventory (R. 1592-1600).

Less than a minute after Officer Pesante entered the station, the officers heard a scream and then heard someone say, "My roommate is on fire." (R. 1552). The officers ran out of the station to see what was happening, and they saw that Byrel Santerfeit was the inmate who was screaming (R. 1552-53, 1556-57, 1621). Officer Sanchez was not paying attention to whether any inmates were near the station when he ran out (R. 1552). Officer Barney, who was the first officer out of the officers' station, looked over a railing and saw smoke coming out of the open door to Cell 120 (R. 1672, 1686).

Officer Sanchez pulled the fire alarm and the control room was

notified of the fire by radio (R. 1553). Officer Barney ran down the stairs to Cell 120 and Officer Pesante grabbed a fire extinguisher and also ran to Cell 120 (R. 1622, 1673). Officer Barney observed two individuals in the common area of the dormitory as he ran toward Cell 120 (R. 1686). He saw a white male in his underwear running by the bathroom under the stairs, and he saw a black male dressed in prison blues standing two doors down (R. 1686-87). Officer Barney told the two individuals to get out of the area, and he continued running toward the fire (R. 1686). Officer Barney could not identify either individual (R. 1688-89).

By the time Officer Barney arrived at Cell 120 the door was closed (R. 1673). All cell doors in the B-dormitory automatically lock from the outside when closed (R. 1674). Officer Sanchez threw the keys to Cell 120 over the railing to Officer Barney (R. 1553-54). Officer Barney opened the door to Cell 120 and the officers saw Patrick Southworth engulfed in flames in the rear of the cell (R. 1623, 1674-75). Officer Pesante immediately put out the flames on Southworth with two short bursts from the fire extinguisher, and then he put out a fire in the back of the cell (R. 1623-26). Southworth stood up by himself and walked out of the cell with Officer Barney (R. 1625, 1678). Southworth was walking very slowly and deliberately (R. 1625).

Officer Barney accompanied Southworth to the prison clinic (R. 1681). Southworth was walking under his own power (R. 1734). On the way to the clinic, Southworth asked him, "Why me? Why me? Why did they do this to me?" (R. 1682). Nurse Nina Mix met them at the elevator and took them to the clinic (R. 1683-84). Inside the

clinic, Nurse Mix also heard Southworth repeatedly say that "he didn't know why they did it to him." (R. 1737, 1747).

Major John Thompson, chief of security at DCI, entered the clinic a few minutes after Nurse Mix began treating Southworth (R. 1738). Thompson began questioning Southworth while Nurse Mix was treating him (R. 1739, 1766). Nurse Mix testified at trial that at one point in the questioning she heard Thompson ask Southworth if he knew who did it, and Southworth said something that sounded like "Cooney" (R. 1739).

Thompson testified at trial that he asked Southworth, "Who did this to you?", and Southworth said, "James Coney" (R. 1766). Thompson asked him, "Why?", and Southworth replied, "Because I'm a homosexual." (R. 1766). Thompson asked him what happened, and Southworth said he felt something wet on him, he looked up and he saw James Coney (R. 1767). Southworth then said, "I think my roommate was involved in this . . Because my lock can't be picked." (R. 1767). Nurse Mix, who was standing next to Southworth at the time, did not hear him make any such statements (R. 1748).

Armando Gonzalez of the Metro-Dade Fire Department, along with two other paramedics, arrived at the clinic and determined that Southworth had to be airlifted to JMH (R. 1782-84). Gonzalez testified that while the paramedics were getting Southworth ready to be airlifted, he asked Southworth what happened and Southworth said, "My lover threw liquid on me. Lit me on fire" (R. 1787). Gonzalez asked him, "Why?" and he said either "I left him", or "I'm leaving him." (R. 1787).

Lieutenant Robin Pomerantz of the Dade County Fire Department

was the flight medic assigned to care for Southworth on the helicopter flight to JMH (R. 2354-55). He testified that when Southworth was first loaded onto the helicopter, he had stated that someone had poured liquid or fluid on him and then set him on fire (R. 2355). In deposition testimony, Pomerantz had stated that Southworth might have said that he was burned because he was an informant (R. 2356). At trial, Pomerantz could not be specific as to whether Southworth had used the word "informant" (R. 2356-57).

Officer Darrell Huffman was the security officer assigned to travel with Southworth from DCI to JMH (R. 1796). He departed DCI with Southworth at 5:47 A.M. and arrived at JMH at 6:10 A.M. (R. 1799). Officer Huffman testified that Southworth was taken from the trauma room to the X-ray room at 6:30 A.M. (R. 1800). Huffman claimed that while Southworth was being X-rayed, he answered a number of Huffman's questions about what had happened to him (R. Huffman testified that he asked Southworth how he had 1800). received the burns, and Southworth stated, "This guy threw gasoline on me and set me on fire." (R. 1800). Huffman asked Southworth if he knew who the guy was and he stated, "Yeah, Cooney, Jimmie Coney." (R. 1800). Huffman then asked why he had done that, and Southworth stated, "I'm a homosexual and I told him I wouldn't fuck him anymore." (R. 1800). Huffman testified that Southworth lost Southworth died the consciousness at 7:00 A.M. (R. 1805). following day as a result of second and third degree burns covering approximately 55-60 percent of his skin area (R. 1301-02, 1309).

The arson investigation inside Cell 120 uncovered a quartsize "butt can" underneath the bottom bunk in the cell (R. 1342).

In the bedding, investigators found a newspaper twisted to form a wick (R. 1343). Further investigation determined that a flammable accelerant had been thrown toward the bunk bed two times (R. 1343). Investigators theorized that the bulk of the liquid had been thrown out of the "butt can" toward the bunk first, then the can itself had been thrown toward the bunk, and finally the twisted wick was used to apply the flame after it was lit (R. 1343, 1421). The investigators further theorized that when the fire started, Southworth was lying in bed with his head on the pillow and the blanket pulled over him (R. 1450-51). No evidence of the accelerant remained in the room by the time that the arson investigators arrived (R. 1346-47).

During the arson investigation conducted in the general vicinity of the fire, a strong lacquer/thinner-type odor was discovered emanating from a garbage pail at the bottom of a stairway (R. 1333). Inside the garbage pail, investigators found a shoe box which had contained sneakers, five soda cans, pieces of whole wheat bread which had the odor of thinner, tissue paper which had the odor of thinner, and a key to the room where the fire was started (R. 1352). Three of the soda cans had the brand name White Rock Cola, and the remaining two cans had the brand name Pina (R. 1351). A strong presence of flammable vapors left by a flammable liquid was discovered on each of the soda cans (R. 1350-51).

Arson investigators used a highly sensitive piece of equipment known as a hydrocarbon sniffer to detect the presence of flammable vapors on the items taken from the garbage pail (R. 1423, 1427-28). The hydrocarbon sniffer was also used to test for the

presence of flammable vapors in Jimmie Coney's cell (R. 1428). The sniffer was run through the lockers, the bedding, under the beds, and throughout all areas of Coney's room (R. 1428). This testing did not uncover any trace of flammable vapors in Coney's cell (R. 1428). An arson investigator testified at trial that the vapors of the lacquer thinner found in the garbage pail were so strong that anyone passing by something containing that lacquer thinner would have to be able to smell the thinner (R. 1434).

Prison records established that a routine cell search of Coney's cell had been conducted on March 31, 1990, and again on April 4, 1990 (R. 169, 173, 2288-90). A routine cell search would involve a check of the bedding and the lockers with a keen eye for observation of anything out of the ordinary (R. 2287). The search of Coney's cell on April 4, 1990 was specifically directed at the area around Coney's bunk (R. 2288-89). Neither the search on March 31 nor the search on April 4 uncovered the presence of any flammable liquids in Coney's cell (R. 169, 173).

A few days after the fire, an arson investigator withdrew a small sample of lacquer thinner from a 55-gallon drum of lacquer thinner at the prison body shop (R. 1490-94). A criminalist at the Metro-Dade Police Department compared that sample of lacquer thinner to the traces of flammable liquids found on the shoebox and the soda cans retrieved from the trash can at DCI (R. 1894-95). The criminalist concluded that the flammable liquid found on the shoebox and the soda cans was not the same substance withdrawn from the 55-gallon drum of lacquer thinner at the prison body shop (R. 1928-29). The soda cans, the shoebox and the newspaper used to

light the fire were submitted to the crime lab in an attempt to develop latent fingerprints on those items (R. 1935-39). No useful prints could be developed on those items (R. 1942-49).

James Franklin Young was an inmate at DCI at the time of the fire (R. 1830). Young had been released from custody prior to his testimony at the trial in this case (R. 1830). Young testified that Coney and Southworth were always "hanging around together" at DCI (R. 1833). Coney would ask Young about Southworth, and these inquiries increased after Coney returned to DCI after being temporarily transferred to another institution for a period of time (R. 1834). Young testified that there seemed to be friction between Coney and Southworth (R. 1834).

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