IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 80,072

JIMMIE LEE CONEY,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

ANITA J. GAY
Florida Bar # 0745227
Assistant Attorney General
Department of Legal Affairs
P.O. Box 013241
401 N.W. 2nd Avenue, Suite N921
Miami, Florida 33101
(305) 377-5441

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

this evidence. However, if the evidence was improperly admitted, there is no reasonable possibility that, absent this evidence, the verdict would have been different.

The next alleged evidentiary error occurred when defense counsel was prohibited from asking a defense witness on redirect if he knew Coney's cellmate to be a "snitch". (R. 2131). However the trial court correctly prohibited defense counsel from obtaining an answer to the improper impeachment. (R. 2131).

When Hason Jones testified, he was never questioned about whether he had ever been a snitch, thus questioning a different witness about an issue which was not presented to Jones was an attempt at improper impeachment of Jones' testimony. cf Lusk v. State, 531 So. 2d 1377 (Fla. 1977)(Impeachment evidence of victim's lack of truthfulness should have been permitted on cross examination of the victim.). Here, rather than asking the question of Jones, defense counsel waited until another witness was testifying and improperly attempted to elicit reputation testimony, contrary to the dictates of \$90.609, Fla. Stat. (1992). See Rogers v. State, 511 So. 2d 526, 530 cert. denied 484 U.S. 1020, 108 S.Ct. 733, 98 L.Ed.2d 681 (1988)(Not error to exclude reputation testimony where defendant failed to provide the necessary predicate for such testimony.).

Additionally, testimony that Jones was a religious person was properly elicited on cross examination of Severance, where

defense counsel had suggested during examination of Jones that he had conveniently found religion in prison (R. 2957), thus it was not an improper attempt to introduce evidence of good character.

Coney's next claim of evidentiary error is based on the admission of evidence that he and the victim were caught in his bed by an officer on March 2, 1990. It was undisputed at trial that Coney and the victim had a homosexual relationship. Further this evidence was cumulative to other evidence which had been previously admitted without objection. When the victim's cellmate, Santerfeit, was testifying, he stated that he had observed Coney and the victim engaging in homosexual sex acts and had walked in on the two of them when they were having sex in his and the victim's cell. (R. 2228). Coney cannot establish that the prejudicial impact of testimony, regarding being in the bed with the victim, outweighs the probative effect where the date of the activity was relevant to establish proximity to the date of the murder. Furthermore, any error in eliciting this evidence is harmless.

Appellant's final claim of evidentiary error arose from the statement of the arson investigator that the paper found in the garbage pail "was probably used to seal the top of the cans." (R. 1406). A trial court has wide discretion regarding the admissibility of evidence and the range of subjects about which an expert can testify. Jent v. State, 408 So. 2d 1024 (Fla. 1981), cert. denied, 457 U.S. 1111, 102 S.Ct. 2916, 73 L.Ed.2d

1322 (1982). Coney has not established that the trial court abused its discretion in allowing the witness to give his opinion. Additionally, the jury was instructed that experts were like other witnesses and that they could "believe or disbelieve all or any part of an expert's testimony." (R. 2631). Accordingly, there is no reasonable possibility that the single statement regarding the use of paper to seal the cans contributed to the verdict.

VI.

DURING THE SENTENCING PHASE, THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ADMITTED EVIDENCE OF THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF CONEY'S PRIOR VIOLENT FELONY CONVICTION.

Appellant concedes that, for purposes of establishing the aggravating circumstance, it is appropriate to introduce evidence of the details of prior felony convictions involving the use or threat of violence. However, Coney contends that the trial court erred in allowing the State to introduce the testimony of the victim's mother, Ann Ross Ferre, regarding the circumstances which led to his prior violent felony convictions for the rape and attempted murder of Susan Ross Lumas because the prejudicial impact of the evidence outweighed its probative effect. Coney's argument that admission of the testimony was unduly prejudicial is without merit.

Appellant's argument fails because it is proper to introduce during the penalty phase of a capital trial, not only evidence of the prior conviction, but also evidence of the circumstances surrounding any prior conviction involving the use or threat of violence. As held by this Court:

Testimony concerning the events which resulted in the conviction assists the jury in evaluating the character of the defendant and the circumstances of the crime so that the jury can make an informed recommendation as to the appropriate sentence.

Rhodes v. State, 547 So. 2d 1201, 1204 (Fla. 1989).

The testimony of the victim's mother was relevant to fully apprise the jury of the background of Coney's sexual battery and attempted first degree murder convictions in 1976.

The victim, who was twenty-eight years old at the time of the instant trial, gave limited testimony of her recollection of Coney's attack on her in 1976 when she was twelve years old. (R. Susan Ross Lumas, the victim, described how Coney entered the house, forced her into a bedroom, unsuccessfully attempted to have her perform oral sex and vaginal intercourse, took her throughout the house as he stole property, made her go into a different bedroom where he committed sexual battery through vaginal intercourse, and finally tied a macrame cord around her neck and strangled her. (R. 2712-14). The victim's mother arrived home immediately after the attack and found her unconscious with the cord still tied around her neck. (R. 2730). Due to her unconsciousness, the victim was unable to fully describe the violent nature of the attack, thus the testimony of her mother was necessary to give a complete description of the circumstances of Coney's prior violent felonies. Furthermore, the victim had never seen photographs of herself after the attack and the defense refused to stipulate that photographs were those

In <u>Rhodes</u>, this Court upheld the admission of a police officer's testimony regarding the facts of the prior violent felony, and held the admission of a tape recording to be error, albeit harmless error. However, the evidence in the instant case did not violate the Appellant's confrontation rights as the evidence did in Rhodes.

of the victim. (R. 2687). Although the trial court sustained the defense objection to photographs of the victim taken on the day of the attack, (R. 2725), the testimony of the mother was essential for admission of the photograph of the victim taken several weeks after the attack. (R. 282-3, 2725).

After reviewing a proffer of the mother's testimony, the trial court permitted her limited testimony with the following:

THE COURT: I'm going to allow her to testify. First, she can testify certainly about the photograph to identify defendant did not want to stipulate that that was the victim in that case, and she certainly can testify to that. I'm also going to allow the state to ask her about what she observed when she arrived home, because that is the essence of the probative nature of this in the testimony, is the degree of the violent attack in that case, and the victim really couldn't testify about that. She certainly explained what had happened, but from her testimony, I don't think you would understand--a jury would understand--well, the effect of strangling-trying to strangle her or tying the rope around her neck. The fact that the injury was really quite severe from that, which is probably one of the most violent aspects of that attack. So I think it's probative. She also did not seem to me unduly emotional, at least in the proffer. Now, I know this has been quite some years ago, but she seemed matter-of-fact.

(R. 2724-25).

Thereafter, the mother briefly testified about the physical condition of the victim immediately after Coney's violent attack. (R. 2728-31). Her testimony was neither cumulative to that of her daughter, nor unduly prejudicial. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting the evidence.

Contrary to Appellant's assertions, the testimony of Ann Ross Ferre was not a prejudicial presentation of the "horrors that she experienced when she saw the unspeakable brutality that had been perpetrated on her twelve-year-old daughter", rather it was a concise probative accounting of the violent nature of Coney's prior crimes as well as a necessary identification of a photograph of the victim. Finally, even if the testimony of Ann Ross Ferre was improperly admitted, there is no reasonable possibility that the jury would have recommended, and the trial judge would have imposed a sentence other than the death penalty. Freeman v. State, 563 So. 2d 73 (Fla. 1990)(Error in admitting testimony from spouse of victim of prior violent felony was harmless error.).

VII.

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DENIED WATSON'S MOTION FOR MISTRIAL WHERE THE PROSECUTOR MADE NO IMPROPER COMMENTS DURING PENALTY CLOSING ARGUMENTS.

Appellant's next claim is that the prosecutor made four statements during the penalty phase closing argument that were so egregious as to warrant a new sentencing hearing. However, this claim has been waived as to three of the comments because Coney did not object at trial. Clark v. State, 363 So. 2d 331 (Fla. 1978). With respect to the one statement that was objected to, Coney has failed to demonstrate that it was improper or that the trial court abused its discretion in denying his motion for mistrial.

Coney is precluded from raising an objection to the following three statements of the prosecutor:

We, as a group of human beings, formed a society and the society is based on the rule of law, not of man. Rules have been designed to proscribe certain activity. And if there's one universal rule, it is against the unlawful killing of another. Society has seen fit, this community has seen fit in this state and throughout the country, if someone violates the proscription, he must face the death penalty.

(R. 2871).

The jury's role is that of an advisory board to the court. You supply the court with a conscience of the community. You tell the judge how those selected from our community feel about, this crime.
(R. 2873).

⁵ Not only was this comment a correct statement of Florida law,

Reason among yourselves using your common sense and your every day life experiences to discuss frankly and candidly what as members of our society, a society we all live in, a society with rules we all share, a society that makes us responsible, makes us accountable for our own actions, what as a society we are to do with someone who violates the highest crime, that of first degree murder. The decision that you will render will speak for you, speak for the community. (R. 2873).

Coney did not follow the dictates set out by this Court for preserving claims for appellate review:

The proper procedure to take when objectionable comments are made is to object and request an instruction from the court that the jury disregard the remarks.

Duest v. State, 462 So. 2d 446 (Fla. 1985).

Furthermore, contrary to Coney's assertions, his single objection to an earlier comment of the prosecutor did not preserve his objection to all subsequent comments. The trial court instructed defense counsel to continue to raise his objections as follows:

[Defense Counsel]: You Honor, if you want, I can continue objecting every time.

THE COURT: I think you better--or for which?

[Defense Counsel]: Well, I don't know what is coming up in the future.

[[]See Grossman v. State, 525 So. 2d 833 (Fla. 1988)], but Coney failed to raise it as a violation of Caldwell v. Mississippi, 471 U.S., 105 S.Ct. 2633, 86 L.Ed.2d 231 (1985), at trial and only did so in footnote #14 of Appellant's Brief.

THE COURT: I think if you have an objection that hasn't been previously been raised, you should raise it, because if I agree, I'd like to advise.

(R. 2869).

Thereafter, in response to the above-listed three statements, defense counsel neither raised another objection nor made a motion for mistrial, thereby denying the trial court of an opportunity to address any possible error. Accordingly, Coney's objection to these three comments was not preserved for appeal. See Wilson v. State, 436 So. 2d 908, 910 (Fla. 1983)(Single objection to one comment did not preserve objection to remaining comments.).

Furthermore, Coney's basis for objection to the initial statement on appeal is different from the basis presented to the trial court. At trial, the following statement and objections were made:

[PROSECUTOR]:...The question you have answer is, does the mitigation change the circumstances of the victim's murder? death penalty is a message sent to certain members of our society who choose not to follow the rules. It is only applicable for a first degree murder, for those who violate the sacredness and sanctity of human life. behavior cannot, nor will not, be tolerated, because life has value, has meaning, This community will not condone, nor purpose. permit, nor allow this type of behavior. We must outlaw it. We must condemn it. punish individuals convicted of first degree murder.

[Defense Counsel]: Objection, Your Honor. Preserve now or would you like to hear it at this point?

THE COURT: What in particular are you objecting to?

[Defense Counsel]: The statements.

THE COURT: Why don't you approach the bench?

[AT SIDEBAR]:

[Defense Counsel]: The argument this community will not tolerate it is, I submit improper. It is suggesting to the jury, if they don't stop this man, there's potential that he might come out in the community and do this again.

THE COURT: I didn't get that at all.

[Defense Counsel]: Well--

THE COURT: I don't think that's an inference to draw from the argument. I don't think that's what was said. Could you read that back?

(Thereupon, the above referred to portion was read back by the court reporter.).

THE COURT: I don't think there's anything in what he said that indicated an argument that this jury should recommend death so that other people wouldn't be exposed to his violence. I'll overrule the objection.

[Defense Counsel]: Your Honor, I assume also that you would deny my motion for mistrial as well.

THE COURT: Yes.

(R. 2867-69).

At trial, defense counsel argued that the comment was improper as telling the jury that they should stop Coney before he goes out into the community and commits crimes again. (R. 2868). Yet, on appeal this objection has been miraculously transformed into one admonishing the jury to "send a message to the community". Accordingly, this issue was likewise not presented to the trial court for ruling or preserved for review.

This Court recently addressed a similar situation, where no objection was made to an allegedly improper argument of sending a message to the community with the following:

... However, we have also recognized that wide latitude is permitted in arguing to a jury. Breedlove v. State, 413 So. 2d 1, 8 (Fla.), cert. denied, 459 U.S. 882, 103 S.Ct. 184, 74 L.Ed.2d 149 (1982). The control of comments made to within the trial court's jury is discretion, and an appellate court will not interfere unless an abuse of discretion is shown. Occhicone v. State, 570 So. 2d 902, 904 (Fla. 1990), cert. denied, 111 S.Ct. 2067, 114 L.Ed.2d 471 (1991); Breedlove, 413 So. 2d at 8. review of the record shows that the prosecutor's comments in the context of the closing argument in its entirety and the penalty phase do not constitute fundamental error. Absent fundamental error, we find that the defense counsel failed to preserve the issue for review, thus precluding appellate review. Davis v. State, 461 So. 2d 67, 71 (Fla. 1984), cert. denied, 473 U.S. 913, 105 S.Ct. 3540, 87 L.Ed.2d 663 (1985). Even if we considered these issues preserved for appeal, we find that the prosecutor's comments are not so outrageous as to taint the jury's finding guilt or recommendation of death. See Bertolotti v. State, 476 So. 2d 130, 133 (Fla. 1985).

Crump v. State, 18 Fla. L. Weekly S331, 334
(Fla. June 18, 1993).

It is axiomatic that the trial court must exercise its discretion to control closing arguments and the trial court's ruling on these matters will not be reversed absent a showing of a clear abuse of discretion. <u>Hooper v. State</u>, 476 So. 2d 1253, 1257 (Fla. 1985). Coney has not made such a showing in this case.

Moreover, Coney's argument that a jury recommendation of seven to five prohibits a finding of harmless error is spurious. This Court has previously rejected arguments regarding the relative closeness of the jury's vote as "sheer conjecture" and having "no relevance". Clark v. State, 443 So. 2d 973, 977 (Fla. 1983); Craig v. State, 510 So. 2d 857, 867 (Fla. 1987)., cert. denied 484 U.S. 1020, 108 S.Ct. 732, 98 L.Ed.2d 680.

VIII.

CONEY'S SENTENCE FOR THE MURDER OF PATRICK SOUTHWORTH IS NOT DISPROPORTIONATE.

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